1969

Jerry Skousen v. Alvin I. Smith : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This action was brought to recover on a non-negotiable promissory note signed by the defendant, Alvin I. Smith, Attorney, while he was representing a client in negotiations with respect to a real estate transaction in Arizona.

The defense is that no cause of action has yet accrued since the conditions expressly stated in the non-negotiable note have not yet occurred. The note provides: "It is understood and agreed that the drawer of this note shall not be liable hereunder until and unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him in the total sum of \$13,-977.70".

The plaintiff pleads a second claim based on allegations that the defendant failed to take action required to recover on the two notes payable to the de-

fendant the collection of which was a condition precedent to the plaintiff's right to recovery.

DISPOSITION OF CASE IN LOWER COURT

The District Court granted judgment for the plaintiff for the amount of the note, interest and attorney's fees.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

While it may not be within the issues in this case, in order to avoid further litigation, this defendant would consent to an order of this court to assign to the plaintiff an interest in the Walker notes or the judgment now entered against C. R. Walker to the full extent of the amount which has now accrued on the note held by the plaintiff. This would permit the plaintiff to directly move against C. R. Walker on that judgment if the plaintiff feels that he could effect recovery from C. R. Walker more expeditiously than the defendant and his counsel have been able to.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought against the defendant on a non-negotiable promissory note which contains this clause:

“It is understood and agreed that the drawer of this note shall not be liable hereunder until and unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him in the total sum of \$13,977.70”.

This note was signed in conjunction with two real estate transactions in which the Coronado Land Company, a partnership, was involved. The plaintiff is one of the partners of Coronado Land Company. (Tr. 50, L. 10)

Prior to January 15, 1962, Coronado Land Company, a partnership, of which plaintiff was a member was negotiating with one Clifford R. Walker for an exchange of two apartment houses in Phoenix, one of which was known as the Pharoah Apartments for some acreage in Arizona. Before that transaction could be completed, Walker was obliged to provide funds to cover delinquent mortgage payments and delinquent taxes on the Pharoah Apartments. The detail of that encumbrance is here set forth:

Property Taxes	\$5,240.81	
Interest	60.68	
General Property Taxes and interest		5,301.49
Special Assessments	380.01	
Interest	4.50	
Total Special Assessments and interest		384.51
Total Taxes and Interest		5,686.00
Mortgage delinquency and interest amounting to	8,286.21	
Additional interest accrued before date of payment	5.49	
Total mortgage delinquency including interest		8,291.70
Total obligation to C. R. Walker		\$ 13,977.70

Walker was not in funds to clear these obligations and the partnership of Coronado requested this defendant, then negotiating on behalf of his client, Stoller, with Coronado for the acquisition of the Pharoah Apartments, to determine whether Smith could arrange to provide the funds for Walker to cover the \$13,977.70 on condition that Coronado would take one-half of the risk. On these terms Smith agreed with Coronado to have client Stoller make a loan of \$13,977.70 to Walker. The seller suggested that the defendant act as intermediary (Tr. 55, L. 15-30) to disburse the \$13,977.70 and then to receive payment on these promissory notes for monies advanced by his client and from the money so to be received that he pay over one-half thereof to his client, the buyer, and the other one-half to the seller of the property, the Seller's one-half being represented by the note herein sued upon. Smith was to receive \$13,977.70 from his client Stoller and disburse the \$13,977.70 paying \$8,291.70 directly to the mortgagee and \$5,686.00 to the County for Taxes. In order to divide the risk equally between Stoller (Smith's client) and Coronado, Coronado on January 15, 1962 agreed it would accept a note for the \$6,988.85 balance of the purchase price, exactly one-half of the \$13,977.70 payable when Smith collected \$13,977.70 from Walker. (Tr. 52, L. 6 to Tr. 53, L. 23)

Q And did your client, Mrs. Stoller, advance that amount of thirteen thousand, some odd dollars, to pay these delinquent items?

A She did.

Q And that was done so the property would be clear when a trade was made with Stollers for the Pharoah Apartments?

MR. FRAZIER: We object to that as leading and suggestive.

THE COURT: It is that.

MR. ARNOVITZ: Well, I can rephrase it.

THE COURT: All right. Let him answer. It is leading.

A Under another agreement between Coronado and Cerene and Walker, Coronado had agreed to cause to be loaned to Cerene and Walker the thirteen thousands dollars in order to clear this up so the transaction could be made, and Coronado then asked me to have my client loan the money, and the money was so loaned, and Walker then gave those notes.

Q (By Mr. Arnovitz) And what relationship did the amount of the note given to Mr. Skousen, or to the Coronado Land Company have to the total of these two notes?

THE COURT: Well, it is half.

MR. ARNOVITZ: Yes, it is exactly one-half, but we wanted to show the reason for it, your Honor.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

A Under the purchase — under the purchase agreement which you have had marked as Exhibit —

THE COURT: "D-5."

A (Continuing) "D-5" \$23,000.00 was the purchase price to be paid by Stoller to Cor-

onado. The purchase price was to be paid at the — May I have the exhibit to refresh my memory as to the amount? The purchase price was to be paid according to the agreement made with Coronado by the payment of cash of \$16,011.15, and I was instructed by Coronado to deliver a note for \$6,988.85 to Skousen, which that was one-half, the agreement being with Coronado that although Stoller would advance the full amount that the risk would be on Coronado to guarantee all amounts paid out over and above \$23,000.00, so that Mrs. Stoller was to receive \$6,988.85, at which time the balance would go to Skousen, and thereby the purchase price of \$23,000.00 would have been paid.

Q In other words, adding to the \$16,011.15 the \$6,988.85 note would have made up the total purchase price of \$23,000.00?

A Yes. Now, as this whole agreement as to the purchase price was completed, an agreement made with Coronado as a partnership and as the owner, we were instructed by them whom the note was to be paid to and how it was to be handled there.

On the following day on behalf of his client, Smith agreed to purchase the Pharoah Apartments for the sum of \$23,000.00 subject to the foregoing encumbrances of \$13,977.70 knowing that he already had in his hands the \$13,977.70 for which Walker had executed the two notes with which to remove these encumbrances. Since the Coronado Land Company had agreed to accept one-half of the risk of the loan

to Walker, the method adopted to have them take the risk was to defer payment of \$6,988.85 of the purchase price until such time as Walker paid the two notes.

The Coronado Land Company, a partnership, directed that the note for this amount be made payable to one of the partners, Jerry Skousen, the plaintiff herein. (Tr. 53, L. 19-23) This note is dated February 1, 1962, fifteen days after the dates of the two Walker notes and is made payable fifteen days after the date it was expected that the money would be received on the two Walker notes. This fifteen day interval between the date Walker was to pay the two notes amounting to \$13,977.70 and the date when Smith would then have been obligated to pay the note of \$6,988.85 to this plaintiff would have been sufficient time to have prevented any default by Smith in the payment of this note to the plaintiff.

The Walker notes were not paid on their due date of January 15, 1964. Beginning in January, 1964 Smith gave Walker notice that the two notes were coming due. (Tr. 35). When payment by Walker was not forthcoming, Smith contacted Walker. Walker was a resident of Calgary, Alberta, Canada. In April, 1964, Walker was in Salt Lake City to attend the Conference of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints and Smith located him in Salt Lake City and made demand upon him for payment of the two notes. Walker promised to make payment. When

Walker returned to Calgary, sometime after April, 1964, he sent a payment of \$2,500.00 to apply on one of the notes and it was so applied.

Q Was the \$2,500.00 credited to one of those notes? (Tr. 35, L. 1-2)

A It was.

Walker also had agreed to make further payments of \$2,500.00 per month until the total of \$13,977.70 plus interest was paid. After April, 1964 when no further payments were being received, Smith continually attempted to pressure Walker into making these payments. (Tr. 37) Smith had a difficult time to contact Walker in Calgary and Smith knew that he usually came to Conference in Salt Lake City twice a year and when he was unable to contact Walker here, he hired private detectives to check the hotels to see if he could find him in order to serve him with summons and sue on the notes, but he was unable to trace him down in Salt Lake City. Smith went to Calgary in the Fall of 1966 and spent a day trying to find Walker in Calgary. (Tr. 37) Smith found his office closed and no one answered at Walker's home in Calgary. Smith went through Calgary again a week later and was unable to contact him. After Smith returned to Salt Lake City, in November, 1966 he requested Irwin Arnovitz, his associate, to take whatever steps were necessary to effect recovery of the Walker notes. Irwin Arnovitz, referred the matter to Calgary counsel and Mr. Smith made an advance of \$200.00 in court costs to commence suit against Walker. Coun-

sel in Calgary then advised that Walker could not be located in Calgary and that Walker was probably in Utah. Smith then tried to locate Walker in Utah; Smith had met Walker's father-in-law, President Tanner, and had his secretary call Mrs. Tanner to find out where her daughter and son-in-law (Walker) were living and Mrs. Tanner gave her an address in Orem, Utah. Soon after that an action was started on the two Walker notes. Smith talked to Walker shortly afterward and Walker told him that summons had been served on him just ten days after he came back to Orem.

The suit against Walker was commenced in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, Case #31235 on September 12, 1967. During the pendency of the suit, negotiations were carried on with Walker in an effort to collect these notes. Exhibit R3. Walker agreed with Smith that he would contact Mr. Frazier, Skousen's attorney and pay him the amount of the Skousen note and would obtain from Frazier a dismissal with prejudice of this suit and agreed to pay Smith the amount due to his client but after first paying Skousen. Smith agreed that Walker could pay Skousen before paying him but unfortunately Walker has paid neither one. Counsel for Smith attempted to obtain some security from Walker which could be applied to the payment of both Walker notes and received an assignment of some funds alleged to be due to Walker from the Banner Corporation and on which there was some expect-

tation that there would be paid to Walker a rather large sum. (Ex. D-4) When the assignment was executed on May 10, 1968 and the assignment was accepted by the Banner Corporation on May 16, 1968, it was expected that Walker's one-third interest would exceed \$100,000.00 and that the \$13,977.70 would be paid in full. Like many such transactions, the payment of \$100,000.00 did not materialize and indeed no sum was paid over by the Banner Corporation for the benefit of Walker or for the payment of the amount due to Mr. Smith's client. Because of this inability to force Walker to pay the \$13,977.70, Smith was unable to fulfill the obligation which he had gratuitously undertaken and for which he received no benefit of any kind but has suffered the burden of attempting to collect the Walker notes, has expended his money to pay court costs in Canada and in Utah and has suffered the burden of defending this action. Mr. Frazier, counsel for the plaintiff, examined Mr. Smith as to why he had signed this promissory note.

(Tr. 55, L. 14) CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. FRAZIER:

Q Mr. Smith, how come you happened to sign this promissory note?

A I was acting as an intermediary for the parties because my client did not want to be — She didn't know all of the details of this. I was merely a nominee, part of collection and the paying out, acting between as a negotiator and the intermediary between Coronado, Walker and Stoller.

MR. FRAZIER: I have no further questions.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. ARNOVITZ:

A Now, as a matter of fact you have never had any financial interest in this personally at all?

THE COURT: You are not claiming anything. This is in your answer.

MR. ARNOVITZ: No, we don't, but just for the purpose of the record, counsel has just opened that matter up, and I want to amplify it.

Q (By Mr. Arnovitz) You have had no financial interest in this transaction, and none of the proceeds would come to you in any way?

A In no way.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

NO CAUSE OF ACTION HAD ACCRUED TO THE PLAINTIFF ON THE NOTE HEREIN SUED UPON AND THE COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL AND NON-SUIT.

This point was raised by the defendant at the very outset of the trial. The execution of the note having been admitted, the court suggested that the burden to go forward would be on the defendant but the defendant raised the point: "That there is no liability under the note unless and until the two notes executed by C. R. Walker are paid in the total amount of \$13,977.70". Counsel for the defendant then con-

tinued (Tr. 28) — “It seems to me that it is incumbent upon them first to show that such amount has been paid; if that amount hasn’t been paid there is no claim accrued as yet” — Plaintiff’s counsel then agreed that he had the burden of establishing the facts to show that the note had become payable and that a cause of action had accrued. (Tr. 28 and 29)

The execution of the note was admitted by the defendant as was the fact that the defendant has received one payment of \$2,500.00 on one of the notes. (Tr. 34, L. 17 Tr. 35, L. 2)

A I received \$2,500.00 on one of the notes.

Q When did you receive that payment?

A I believe it was in April of '62, or what is the date of the note?

THE COURT: February 1st.

THE WITNESS: Of what year?

THE COURT: 1962.

THE WITNESS: I mean April of 1964.

Q (By Mr. Frazier) You received \$2,500.00 from Mr. Walker in payment on one of his notes?

A Yes.

Q How many notes were there comprising the \$13,000.00 as alleged or set forth on that promissory note?

A Two notes.

Q And was the \$2,500.00 credited to one of those notes?

A It was.

The plaintiff offered no other evidence as to the time when the note became payable nor any evidence to explain the ambiguity in the note. Thus on a Motion for non-suit, the District Court had only the four corners of the note and the single fact that one payment of \$2,500.00 had been made on one of the notes in April, 1964 from which the court could find that the note had become payable before this suit was commenced.

The clause in the note as to the time payable reads:

“It is understood and agreed that the drawer of this note shall not be liable hereunder until and unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him in the total sum of \$13,977.70”.

The plaintiff's contention must be that the note became payable in April, 1964 when the one payment of \$2,500.00 was received on one of the notes. The condition in the note is — “payment—on notes—in the total sum of \$13,977.70”. The meaning of the phrase becomes clear and obvious when the phrases in this clause of the note are put in their proper grammatical sequence. When that is done, the clause reads without inserting a single letter or word as follows: “It is understood and agreed that the drawer of this note shall not become liable hereunder until and unless payment is received in the total sum of \$13,977.70 from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him”.

Likewise, the clause is crystal clear, when the letter “n” in the word “on” is changed to the letter “f” so that the clause as so changed would read:

“It is understood and agreed that the drawer of this note shall not be liable hereunder until and unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker of notes executed by him in the total sum of \$13,977.70”.

Counsel for the plaintiff is asking the court to read the clause as though the article “a” preceded the word “payment”. However, no evidence was offered to that effect and on the contrary the plaintiff testified that what he had requested Smith to do was to *collect* the notes that were due from Mr. Walker and not merely to obtain a payment from Mr. Walker so that his note would become payable. (Tr. 31, L. 26 to Tr. 32, L. 1) Had any such evidence been offered defendant has in its possession a letter written by the plaintiff to Mr. Frazier his attorney, a copy of which he mailed to the defendant in which he acknowledged that the note in suit did not become payable until full payment of the two Walker notes. That evidence would have been offered in rebuttal, if plaintiff had given any testimony that there was an agreement that the note should be interpreted as though it read, “a payment”. We attach that letter as an appendix to this Brief.

From the following question of counsel for the plaintiff, we have an indication that he interpreted the Skousen note as providing that it did not become

payable until Smith collected the two notes from Walker.

Question by Mr. Frazier: Did you have any conversation with Mr. Smith specifically about taking action against Mr. Walker in *collecting* the notes that were due from Mr. Walker?

A. Yes. I felt my security was being impaired. I had numerous conversations with him asking him to proceed and get this *collected*. (Emphasis ours) (Counsel is of the opinion that the word "this" should be "these") (Tr. 31-32)

Accordingly, it seems clear that the plaintiff knew that this note was not payable until and unless the notes executed by Walker in the total sum of \$13,-977.70 were collected — not partly collected.

The answer given by the plaintiff likewise suggests the same thing, when the plaintiff used the word "security". There is nothing in the note to Skousen stating it is a secured note, as indeed it is not. What Skousen must have meant by the use of the word "security" was that whatever funds he was to receive in payment of his note would have their origin in the collection of the two Walker notes.

The District Court ascribed a meaning to the word "payment" that does not conform to either the dictionary or legal definition of that word. No evidence was offered that the word "payment" was to have a meaning different from its dictionary or legal

meaning. Webster's Imperial Dictionary defines payment as:

“The thing given in discharge of a debt or fulfillment of a promise”.

The same dictionary defines the word “pay” as follows:

“To get rid of or satisfy as a debt, duty, or obligation, by performing an action required or by delivery of something or some amount in satisfaction; to satisfy ones debts, duties or obligations”.

A partial amount paid on an obligation is not “payment” but one installment of a given number of installments that may be required to make payment of an obligation. The word “payment” does not require the addition of any word or article to be correctly understood. Definitions of the word “payment” as they appear in Vol. 31-A, Words & Phrases at page 216, 217, 233 and 234 follow:

Page 216 — “Payment” meant in full and not in part or a compromise for a part. in re Thornwall's Estate, 10 N.W. 2d 35, 233 Iowa 626.

“Payment” of an obligation connotes fulfillment of it according to its terms. *Stone vs. Webster*, 144 P.2d 466, 468, 65 Idaho 392.

Page 217 — “Payment” of a debt is made by debtor's delivery to creditor of money or some other valuable thing, and creditor's receipt thereof, for purpose of extinguishing debt. *Moses vs. United States*, D.C.N.Y., 28 F. Supp. 817, 818.

Page 233 — “Payment signifies the discharge

of a debt, obligation of duty. In re Gray's Estate, 290 NYS 603, 607, 160 Misc. 710.

"Payment" implies satisfaction or discharge of an indebtedness or claim. *Dennett vs. Goelet*, 256 NYS. 393, 395, 143 Misc. 195.

"Payment" implies discharge of an obligation according to its terms or by something given or received of agreed value equal to the debt or liability. *Crutchfield vs. Johnson & Latimer*, 8 So. 2d 412, 414, 243 Ala. 73.

"Payment" is a mode of extinguishing a debt. *Bradford vs. Richard*, 16 So. 487, 489, 46 La. Ann. 1530.

Page 234 — "Payment is generally understood as a discharge of the debt or obligation by a compliance with the terms of the obligation, and, if the obligation calls for a money discharge, then there cannot be payment except by paying the full amount called for in money, or the representative of money. *Casper vs. Mayer*, 43 P. 2d 467, 472, 171 Okl. 457 — citing *Continental Gin vs. Arnold*, 52 Okla. 569, 153 P. 160, 2.

The word "payment", which is not a technical term, means the discharge in money or its equivalent of a debt or obligation or the actual or constructive delivery by a debtor to his creditor or money or its equivalent with intent to thereby extinguish the debt, and acceptance thereof by creditor with same intent. *Indiana Dept. of State Revenue, Ind. Revenue Bd., Ind. Gross Income Tax Division vs. Colpaert Realty Corp.*, 109 N.E. 2d 415, 419, 231 Ind. 463.

The word "payment" has a specified and

clear meaning, which is that a claim has been paid. *Readings vs. McMEnamin*, Del., 39 A. 463, 464, 1 Pennewill, 15.

Thus if we substitute for the word "payment" its legal definition, the clause would then have this meaning: "It is understood and agreed that Smith shall not be liable hereunder until and unless funds discharging or extinguishing notes executed by C. R. Walker in the total sum of \$13,977.70 are received by Smith".

How incongruous it would be to believe that a clause would be placed in a note to defer the accrual of a cause of action on a note to a time when "a payment" would be received on a note amounting to \$13,977.70. Thus the condition of the note could be met by making a nominal payment of \$1.00 or \$100.00. Under the ruling of the District Court if Walker had paid Smith \$100.00 on the \$13,977.70 note then Smith became immediately liable to pay and discharge the Walker note. The intermediary would then be put in the untenable position of being forced to pay the note and interest amounting in all to approximately \$8,000.00 when he would have collected only \$100.00.

The fifteen day interval between the maturity date of the Walker notes, January 15, 1964 and February 1, 1964 the original maturity date of the note in question, conclusively shows that it was the full payment of the Walker note that was the condition required before plaintiff's note was to be paid on February 1, 1964. That was the source of funds that the

“intermediary” Smith expected to apply to the payment of the Skousen note. It was never intended that Smith should pay this note out of his funds, but it was clear that it was the intention that the source of funds that the intermediary Smith was to apply to the payment of this note was the monies to be received from Walker. This becomes ever clearer when it is noted that the real estate transaction was closed on January 16, 1962. This note, a part of that transaction, was deliberately dated fifteen days after the transaction was closed.

The furthest limit to which the plaintiff would testify as what facts there were to show that the note was payable at the time of the commencement of this action is this statement: “When I was informed that Mr. Walker had paid him \$2,500.00, then I *felt* that my obligation should be satisfied”. (Tr. 32, L. 9-11) (Emphasis ours) The plaintiff did not testify that there was any conversation at the time of the execution of the note to the effect that his note would become payable when \$2,500.00 was paid on one of the Walker notes. Again it is clear, that the plaintiff knew that this note was not payable unless and until the full amount of the two Walker notes were collected.

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