1971

Jerry Skousen v. Alvin I. Smith : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONSTRUED THE PROMISSORY NOTE TO MAKE DEFENDANT LIABLE FOR PAYMENT TO PLAINTIFF WHEN DEFENDANT RECEIVED PAYMENT FROM CLIFFORD WALKER ON NOTES EXECUTED BY WALKER.

A.

The subject matter of this litigation is a promissory note signed by Alvin Smith, (Defendant) in favor of Jerry Skousen, (Plaintiff), and payable according to its terms. Mr. Smith is an experienced attorney and a member of the Utah Bar; he drafted the note and executed it. Mr. Skousen is a businessman. Both parties had experience in business transactions.

The subject note is relatively simple and provides in pertinent part that “the drawer of this note [Alvin Smith] shall not be liable hereunder until and *unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him.*” (Emphasis added.) It was uncontroverted at trial that Clifford Walker had paid to Alvin Smith \$2,500.00 on notes executed by him, and that Alvin Smith had credited the money to those notes. Therefore, the only issue before the District Court Judge was to construe the note and determine the intent of the parties thereto. The proper construction of the

note was a question of law for the Trial Court. *Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Co. v. Harsh Utah Corp.*, 5 Utah 2d 244, 300 P.2d 610.

The issue before the Trial Court was to determine the intent of the parties to the note as to how much Clifford R. Walker must pay to Alvin Smith before Smith became liable to Skousen on the note. That is, does the note require Clifford Walker to make payment “on” his notes, or “of” them. The Court construed the note to require the following:

That under the terms of said Promissory Note, said Promissory Note was payable within two years after date, *provided the drawer of the note had received payments on Promissory Notes, which the Defendant held on Clifford R. Walker.*

(Findings of Fact No. 2, emphasis added.)

There are three basic methods by which the Trial Court could determine the intent of the parties to the promissory note:

1. Hold the parties to their intent as expressed in the writing itself unless bona fide ambiguities make that impossible.
2. If there are ambiguities, resolve the issue of intent by reference to other contemporary writings of the parties.
3. If there are no such writings, admit oral testimony to demonstrate intent.

This Court has clearly and definitely taken the first position stating that the intent of the parties to a writing will be determined from the language within its four corners where the writing is reasonably free of ambiguity. *Bennett v. Robinson's Medical Mart, Inc.*, 18 Utah 2d 186, 415 P.2d 928 (1962); *Maw v. Noble*, 10 Utah 2d 440, 354 P.2d 121 (1960); *Continental Bank and Trust Company v. Bybee*, 6 Utah 2d 98, 306 P.2d 773 (1957); *Ephraim Theater Company v. Hawk*, 7 Utah 2d 163, 321 P.2d 221 (1958); and *Mathis v. Madsen*, 261 P.2d 952 (1953).

The rule above is particularly applicable to this case in a business transaction between experienced parties where the complaining party is an experienced attorney. The Trial Court may fairly have inferred that Mr. Smith knew by virtue of his legal training and as a matter of general knowledge, the difference between the phrases "payment of a note" and "payment on a note," and that he knew the former refers to a complete payment of a note and the latter refers to a partial payment.

The note could not have been more simply or concisely stated: it suggests no other direction except that Alvin Smith would become liable when Clifford R. Walker made a payment on notes which he executed.

This rule represents a conscious policy decision on the part of the Court. Parties should be held to their clearly expressed intention or the orderly conduct of affairs would quickly stop. If parties were allowed to amend contracts to cover failure to think, or changes of

mind, there would be no reliable and dependable contracts. Thus, Justice Henroid in *Jensen Used Cars v. Rice* (1958) :

Elementary it is that in construing contracts we seek to determine the intentions of the parties. But it is also elementary and of extreme practical importance that we hold contracting parties to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed to writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto. Were this not so business, one with another among our citizens, would be relegated to the chaotic, and the basic purpose of the law to supply enforceable rules of conduct for the maintenance and improvement of an orderly society's welfare and progress would find itself impotent. It is not unreasonable to hold one responsible for language which he himself espouses. Such language is the only implement he gives us to fashion a determination as to the intentions of the parties. Under such circumstances we should not be required to embosom any request that we ignore that very language. This is as it should be. The rule excluding matters outside the four corners of a clear, understandable document, is a fair one, and one's contentions concerning his intent should extend no further than his own clear expressions.

Jensen Used Cars v. Rice, 7 Utah 2d 276, 323 P.2d 259 (1958).

In addition, Utah law allows a finding of uncertainty or ambiguity by the Trial Court "only where there is some *genuine lack of certainty*," it does not refer to "strained or merely fanciful or wishful interpretations

that may be indulged in.” *Maw v. Noble, supra*, 354 P.2d at 123. In the latter category surely belong Appellant’s demonstrations of the charges in the meaning of the note which can be accomplished by changing words, substituting words, or playing with syntax (App. Brief 13-14, 18).

In interpreting a contract, *the primary rule is to determine what the parties intended by what they said*. The Court may not add, ignore or discard words in the process, but attempts to render certain the meaning of the provision in dispute by an objective and reasonable construction of the whole contract.

Cornwall v. Willow Creek County Club, 13 Utah 2d 160, 369 P.2d 928, 929 (1962, emphasis added).

In considering the controversy here it is well to keep in mind the fundamental concepts in regard to contracts: that their purpose is to reduce to writing the conditions upon which the minds of the parties have met and to fix their rights and duties in respect thereto. *The intent so expressed is to be found, if possible within the four corners of the instrument itself in accordance with the ordinary accepted meaning of the words used*. Unless there is ambiguity or uncertainty in the language so that the meaning is confused, or is susceptible or more than one meaning, there is no justification for interpretation or explanation from extraneous sources. *It would defeat the very purpose of formal contracts to permit a party to invoke the use of words or conduct inconsistent with its terms to prove that the parties did not mean what they said, or to use such inconsistent words to conduct to demonstrate uncertainty or ambiguity where none would otherwise exist*.

Ephriam Theater Company v. Hawk, *supra* at 22. Cf. *Jensen Used Cars v. Rice*, 7 Utah 2d 276, 323 P.2d 259 (1958).

Thus, by reference to the language of the note above, it is clearly provided that payment by Clifford Walker on his notes to Alvin Smith make the latter liable to Jerry Skousen for the face amount of the subject note. The Trial Court so held.

B.

Even had the District Court initially viewed the promissory note as ambiguous, it would have properly construed the same in favor of Plaintiff and strictly against the Defendant as its draftsman and an attorney.

Even assuming the note to be ambiguous, the Court would have still referred to it *first* in determining the intent of the parties thereto. *Continental Bank and Trust Company v. Bybee*, *supra*; *Mathis v. Madsen*, *supra*. In so doing it is elementary that a writing be construed against its draftman, and strictly so when the draftsman is an attorney as in the case with Mr. Smith. In *Continental Bank and Trust v. Bybee*, *supra*, the Plaintiff, an attorney, and draftsman of the subject writing, had a dispute with a carpet company regarding a faulty carpet installed in his home. The Plaintiff Attorney therein drafted a "release" which provided in part that the carpet company pay the Attorney \$100.00 and release him from any indebtedness to the carpet company. The issue was

whether the parties intended that Plaintiff be released from his promissory note earlier negotiated to a holder in due course. There as in the instant case, the Attorney draftsman argued that his writing be construed to cover a circumstance which he had failed to foresee; or, which he foresaw, but failed to provide for when he drafted his writing. The Court there said that since Bybee was both the Attorney-draftsman of and a party to the instrument, the proper construction of the instrument should be strictly against him. *Continental Bank and Trust v. Bybee, supra*, 306 P.2d at 775.

It therefore follows that the District Court in strictly construing the promissory note against Defendant as draftsman and attorney reasonably construed it to impose liability upon him two years after date thereof, Clifford Walker having made payments on notes executed by him.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN NOT EXERCISING ITS EQUITABLE POWERS TO VARY THE MEANING OF THE PROMISSORY NOTE.

Even had the Trial Court initially felt that the promissory note was a proper subject for the exercise of its equitable powers, it is clear from the Findings of Fact (No. 4) and the evidence at trial that Defendant was not standing before the Court with "clean hands."

First, Defendant wrote the language of which he complained to the Court.

Second, Defendant made no effort to alleviate the problem he created by his writing, but rather—as the Trial Court specifically found (Finding of Fact No. 4 quoted *infra*)—sought to take advantage of the condition: thus, with reference to the language of the note (“unless payment is received from Clifford R. Walker on notes executed by him”), and the fact that Clifford Walker had made a \$2,500.00 payment, *Defendant could claim—as he did in this case—that the note really should have required full payment, and refuse to pay Plaintiff as the note required.* If, however, Mr. Skousen agreed with the theory above and did not sue on the note, *Mr. Smith could simply wait more than six years before proceeding against Walker and then allege—as Plaintiff did here—that the note became due and owing upon the first payment by Walker and that the statute of limitations had expired thereby nullifying an action by Skousen on the note.*

The Trial Court in its Findings of Fact No. 4, found:

The Court finds that the Defendant failed and neglected or refused to take action against Clifford R. Walker on the Promissory Note which the Plaintiff held until after the Plaintiff commenced an action against the Defendant; and, because of the statute of limitations and the possibility of the Plaintiff losing his cause of action on the Promissory Note, his action would appear to have been appropriately taken.

The Trial Court's fact findings reasonably supported by evidence should be affirmed on Appeal *Sine v. Harper*, 118 Utah 415, 222 P.2d 571, 581 (1950).

In addition, the oral evidence introduced by Defendant was contrary to that necessary under Utah Law for its reformation on the basis of mutual mistake of fact:

1. "Mutual mistake of fact may be defined as error in reducing the concurring intentions of the parties to writing." *Peterson v. Paulson*, 24 Wash. 2d 166, 163 P.2d 830, quoted in *Naisbitt v. Hodges*, 6 Utah 2d 116, 307 P.2d 620 (1957).

2. "Evidence necessary to substantiate the mutual mistake of fact must be clear, definite, and convincing . . ." *Naisbitt v. Hodges*, *supra*, at 623.

3. "The party seeking reformation should not be guilty of negligence in the execution of the contract or deed or latches in making timely application for its reformation." *Id.* at 623. See generally, *Sine v. Harper*, *supra*.

The burden of proving mutual mistake was on Defendant, and the burden required was evidence "sufficiently clear and convincing" to satisfy the Court "*beyond a reasonable doubt*" of the existence of a mutual mistake of fact. *Sine v. Harper*, *supra*, at 581.

With regard to requirements one and two, there was no evidence before the Trial Court to demonstrate *an intention concurred in by both parties* which Mr. Smith failed to properly record. Certainly there was no

evidence sufficient to have convinced the District Court *beyond a reasonable doubt*. The most reasonable inference from the evidence is that Mr. Smith simply drafted without thinking. The Courts have refused to protect *laymen* under these circumstances and the District Court therefore correctly refused an Attorney. Cf. *Jensen Used Cars v. Rice, supra*.

With reference to the third requirement, the Plaintiff, in his Complaint, specifically alleged failure, neglect, or refusal on the part of Defendant to take action in collecting the monies owed to him by Clifford Walker. The evidence showed three years had lapsed during which Defendant did not take action against Clifford Walker, yet the evidence also showed Mr. Smith was aware of Walker's relatives, some of his movements, and the fact that he regularly came to Salt Lake every six months for L. D. S. conference. Nevertheless, notwithstanding his earlier failure, Defendant was able to promptly sue Walker once he was sued by Mr. Skousen. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact reasonably supported by the evidence should be supported on appeal. *Sine v. Harper, supra*.

Respectfully submitted,

FRAZIER & WOOD
J. Brent Wood

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent